
High Peak Borough Council

COMMUNITY SELECT COMMITTEE AGENDA

Date: Wednesday, 5 February 2020

Time: 6.30 pm

Venue: The Octagon Lounge, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton

You can view the 
agenda online by using 
a smart phone camera 
and scanning the code 
below:

28 January 2020
PART 1
1. Apologies for Absence 

2. To receive Disclosures of Interest on any matters before the Committee 
i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
ii) Other Interests

3. Any matters referred to the Committee under the call-in procedure 

4. Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 10)

5. Update from Derbyshire Police 

6. Recommendations from the Single Use Plastic Working Group (Pages 11 - 20)

7. Use of Inflatables on Council Owned Land (Pages 21 - 36)

8. Dog Control Orders (Pages 37 - 46)

9. Select Committee Work Programme (Pages 47 - 48)

10. Any questions referred to the Executive Member (Democratic Services to be 
advised of any questions at least 4 days prior to the meeting) 

SIMON BAKER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Membership of Community Select Committee
Councillor R Quinn (Chair) Councillor K Sizeland (Vice-Chair)
Councillor R Abbotts Councillor E Burton
Councillor J Collins Councillor O Cross
Councillor S Gardner Councillor J Haken
Councillor M Hall Councillor P Hardy
Councillor E Kelly Councillor S Young

Public Document Pack





1

High Peak Borough Council

COMMUNITY SELECT COMMITTEE

Meeting: Wednesday, 27 November 2019 at 6.30 pm in The Board Room, Pavilion 
Gardens, Buxton

Present: Councillor R Quinn (Chair) 

Councillors R Abbotts, E Burton, J Collins, J Haken, M Hall, P Hardy, E Kelly, 
G Oakley (substitute for O Cross), K Savage (substitute for S Gardner), 
K Sizeland and S Young

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors O Cross and 
S Gardner

Councillors Barrow, Greenhalgh, A McKeown and Todd were also in 
attendance.

20/20 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
(Agenda Item 4)

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 27 November 2019 be approved as 
a correct record.

20/21 ACCESSIBLE BUXTON
(Agenda Item 5)

Sandra Jowett informed the committee about the aims of the Accessible 
Buxton project, which aims to improve accessibility and inclusion across 
Buxton.  The priority actions included:

 Public accessible toilets and a changing places toilet
 Creation of an experts by experience group
 An audit of the challenges of getting around Buxton and the 

production of a plan of improvements including signage
 A one-stop information point (website and hard copy leaflets and 

posters) for residents, businesses and visitors 
 Shopmobility – the identification of a space in Buxton to store and 

hire out scooters
 Ramps – the provision of mobile ramps in the town

The benefit to residents, visitors and businesses of improving accessibility in  
Buxton was discussed and one aim was to be positively reviewed in the 
Euan’s Guide to provide visitors with full information around accessibility in 
Buxton in order to encourage and promote tourism.  

One of the main aspiration of the group was to provide a changing places 
toilet within Buxton, at an estimated cost of £17,000 within an existing 
space.  Reference was made to the disabled facilities grant programme, part 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



Community Select Committee
Wednesday, 27 November 2019

2

of which could be used for community projects, together with on-going 
discussions with other partners including the Safer Places Initiative.

Members were very supportive of the project, and commented that although 
this project was aimed at Buxton, similar initiatives needed to take place 
across the whole of the High Peak and wider Peak District.

RESOLVED:

That Sandra be thanked for her presentation and the aims of the project be 
supported..

20/22 PARKWOOD UPDATE (INCLUDING PAVILION GARDEN CONCESSION 
UPDATE)
(Agenda Item 6)

Annual Leisure Centre Service Report

Representatives of Parkwood and Lex Leisure presented members with the 
Annual Leisure Centre Service Report since the start of the contract of 1 
April 2019.

The presentation provided details of new initiatives provided at all sites 
across the borough, key usage statistics, including a breakdown of visits to 
each site which were then broken down further by the identified sport and 
physical activity strategy priorities.  A number of place based activities had 
been undertaken including drowning prevention week at local schools and 
dementia sessions in conjunction with The Bureau.  New investments at 
each site were outlined as well as planned capital works. Reference was 
made to changes made to the swimming lesson programme which had had 
the effect of reducing the waiting list at each facility and ensured 
consistency of delivery for parents  Work around carbon reduction measures 
and a reduction in the use of single use plastics was also set out.

Members made reference to differences in satisfaction levels between sites 
which were being addressed by the sharing of good practice both at a local 
level and regionally.

It as requested that the attendance figures be provided to reflect unique 
individual attendances, as well as a breakdown between young people and 
teenagers which could be provided.

It was commented that the cost of memberships could be a barrier to young 
people in full time education accessing services, and concern expressed at 
the numbers of teenagers undertaking no or little physical activity.  Members 
were advised that concessionary pricing would be reviewed in due course.

Some concern was expressed regarding pool opening hours particularly if 
you work full time, and members were advised that the revised pool 
programme aimed to provide a balanced pool programme.

Buxton Pavilion Gardens
Page 4



Community Select Committee
Wednesday, 27 November 2019

3

Members were presented with and update on progress at the Pavilion 
Gardens since the concession started in February 2019. Investment and 
Development had been undertaken and in partnership with Parkwood, 
HPBC are investing over £557,000 in Pavilion Gardens over phase 1 and 2.  
Other developments included the refurbishment of the lakeside hut and the 
introduction of a boating lake, coffee van and picnic bench seating on the 
promenade. An ice cream bar replaced the coffee bar and a new retail 
arcade opened in May 2019.  A new drapes system had been installed in 
the Octagon which allowed the area to be screened to enable large and 
small functions to be undertaken, and new provision in the conservatory was 
opened in July.  The Pavilion kitchen had replaced the Pavilion café and 
operated on a self service system and tea rooms would be introduced in the 
new year.  Information on customer satisfaction levels and usage were also 
provided.

Generally, members were supportive of the changes introduced and 
acknowledged quick responses to areas of concerns, such as the 
conservatory.  Some concern was expressed with the layout of the Pavilion 
Kitchen and the use of the space by families.  Members were advised that 
further work was to be done by the completion of the ice cream area and the 
introduction of the tea rooms which would include comfortable seating and 
sofas etc.  In response to comments regarding the soft play area, members 
were advised that it may not always be possible to facilitate soft play due to 
the nature of the events being undertaken, but reference was made to 
successful dedicated sessions being run during school holidays.

It was queried whether the facility would be able to host a changing places 
toilet, and it was confirmed that discussions were on-going.

It was further queried whether charging points would be incorporated into 
the complex in the future.

RESOLVED:

That the presentations be noted.

20/23 LEISURE CENTRE OPTIONS
(Agenda Item 7)

The Committee considered a report which set out the work required to 
establish clear plans for future investment and management options for the 
Council’s leisure centres in line with the Physical Activity and Sport Strategy.

The conclusions of a review of the council’s leisure facilities was set out in 
paragraph 3.5 of the report, and it noted that now, the longer term future 
management options for the leisure centres needed to be assessed in 
further detail.  Support was sought for further consultancy work to support 
this process and scoping meetings had also taken place with Sport England.

Page 5



Community Select Committee
Wednesday, 27 November 2019

4

Concern was expressed regarding the future of Glossop Pool, to which 
members were assured that all options needed to be explored with 
appropriate weight given to cultural heritage issues.

In response to comments around the need for a 3G pitch in the central area, 
due to the renovation work just undertaken on the sand dressed pitch at 
Chapel, discussions were on-going around the location of an additional 
pitch. Comments were also made around the possibility of athletics tracks.

RESOLVED:

That the Executive be recommended to approve plans to retrain external 
consultancy support in order to assist the Council in progressing plans for 
future investment and management options for the Council’s leisure centres.

20/24 OVERVIEW OF HMOS
(Agenda Item 8)

The Committee considered an overview of the enforcement of legislation in 
connection with Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO).  

The Committee were advised that all HMOs were inspected by the Council, 
and in addition, the University of Derby required all accommodation to meet 
their standard to be accredited as student accommodation. 

 Issues arose in other properties through the actions of some tenants and 
providing there was sufficient evidence, the Council could take action to 
close or serve improvement notices on those properties.  A further update 
report was requested particularly around the problematic properties.

In response to comments regarding the wider Fairfield Road Improvement 
Plan, the Leader advised that a report would be submitted to a future 
meeting of Economy & Growth Select Committee.

RESOLVED:

1. That the report be noted;

2. That an update report be submitted to a future meeting of the 
Committee in approximately 12 months time.

20/25 AIR QUALITY MONITORING AREA ACTION PLAN FOR TINTWISTLE
(Agenda Item 9)

The Committee were presented with the Action Plan for the Air Quality 
Management Area on part of the Woodhead Road (A628), Tintwistle.

Members were supportive of the actions set out within the report, but 
concerns were expressed regarding the use of the road by HGVs with the 
view expressed that these type of vehicles should be restricted to the major 
motorway network to enable any improvements around air quality to be 
made.  It was confirmed that joint working was undertaken with 
neighbouring authorities.  Reference was also made to discussions on-going Page 6



Community Select Committee
Wednesday, 27 November 2019

5

around the-opening of old railway lines, which is was commented, if 
supported would be a number of years away.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the report be noted and the Executive be requested to 
note the above comments.

20/26 DECLARATION OF AN AIR QUALITY MANAGMENT AREA ON PART OF 
THE A57, DINTING VALE, GLOSSOP
(Agenda Item 10)

The Committee considered the outcome of the assessment of the air quality 
along part of the A57 in Dinting Vale.

In response to a query regarding why only part of the A57 corridor was to be 
included in the Order, Members were advised that areas where young 
children or vulnerable adults were recommended to be established in the 
first instance, and monitoring could be extended to other specific areas of 
concern.

It was requested that an update report be submitted to the meeting of the 
Committee in June 2020.

RESOLVED:

That the Executive be recommended to make an Order under Section 83 of 
the Environment Act 1995 declaring an Air Quality Management area in the 
form attached at Appendix 2 to the report.

20/27 FOOD ENFORCEMENT PLAN
(Agenda Item 11)

The Committee considered the Food Safety Service Plan for 2019/2020 
which was reviewed on a yearly basis.

It was noted that High Peak was in the top 10 of all food safety delivered 
and maintained for the last 5 years.

RESOLVED:

That the Executive be recommended to approve the food safety service plan 
attached at Appendix A to the report.

20/28 SELECT COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME
(Agenda Item 12)

It was requested that a report around Air Quality Management be submitted 
to the Committee in June 2020, and an update around HMOs be presented 
within a 12 month period.

RESOLVED:
Page 7



Community Select Committee
Wednesday, 27 November 2019

6

That, subject to the above, the Select Committee Work Programme be 
noted.

The meeting concluded at 8.55 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 8



Community Select Committee
Wednesday, 27 November 2019

7

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Community Select Committee

5 February 2020

TITLE: Recommendations from the Single Use 
Plastic Working Group

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Todd- Executive Councillor for 
Climate Change, Environment and 
Community Safety

CONTACT OFFICER: Nicola Kemp – Head of Service 
Commissioning

WARDS INVOLVED: All

Appendices Attached 
1. Single Use Plastics Full Council motion from the High Peak Labour group

2. HPBC Single use plastics policy

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To provide the Community Select Committee with an overview of the work of 
the Single Use Plastic Working Group (SUPWG) and its recommendations.

2. Recommendation

2.1 The Community Select Committee recommends that the Executive:
• Approves the adoption of the Single Use Plastics Policy for HPBC thus 

demonstrating our commitment to this important matter (as provided at 
Appendix 2),

• Supports the development of awareness campaigns with partners to 
encourage employees, residents, schools and businesses to reduce 
their reliance on single use plastics and to continue to support national 
campaigns such as Spring Clean events which encourage increased 
involvement in community litter picks.

• Determines the feasibility of developing a certification for local 
businesses who swap packaging and reduce their reliance on single 
use plastics. The group suggested that it be explored to determine 
whether the certification could be undertaken via our existing licensing 
systems or food safety inspections, or be monitored and awarded by 
local community groups.

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



3. Executive Summary

3.1 At the meeting on 12 December 2018, the Council resolved as follows:
‘The Council notes:

 the serious concerns about plastic pollution set out by Councillor Todd 
and Councillor Kerr in their notice of motion (see Appendix 1) , in 
particular relating to single use plastics;

 the proposed principles, remedies and actions set out in the notice of 
motion (see Appendix 1)

 the widespread public and corporate support for effective action to deal 
with plastic pollution.

           The Council therefore requests the Chair of the Community Select Committee 
to establish a sub-committee to undertake appropriate research, taking into 
account evidence from local public sector and corporate partners with the task 
of recommending an effective, achievable, timed and costed plan of action by 
the Council for consideration as part of the new Corporate Plan agreed for 
implementation during the four years after the May elections 2019.’

3.2 At its meeting on the 6th February 2019, this Committee appointed members 
to the SUPWG and agreed the terms of reference for the group’s future work. 
Whilst the group initially met on the 25th March 2019 the membership of the 
group subsequently changed due to the local elections in May. The SUPWG 
membership from this time included Councillors Collins, Haken, Kelly, Kerr, 
Stone and Young.

3.3 The SUPWG during its meetings considered a range of briefing notes and 
presentations from key partners. At its final meeting in November 2019 the 
group agreed the following recommendations be proposed to the Community 
Select Committee:

 To develop a single use plastics policy for HPBC thus demonstrating 
our commitment to this important matter (as provided at Appendix 2),

 To develop awareness campaigns with partners to encourage 
employees, residents, schools and businesses to reduce their reliance 
on single use plastics and to continue to support national campaigns 
such as Spring Clean events which encourage increased involvement 
in community litter picks.

 To determine the feasibility of developing a certification for local 
businesses who swap packaging and reduce their reliance on single 
use plastics. The group suggested that it be explored to determine 
whether the certification could be undertaken via our existing licensing 
systems or food safety inspections, or be monitored and awarded by 
local community groups.

3.4 The financial implications of the proposed HPBC Single Use Plastics Policy is 
not fully known at this stage. A significant proportion of aspirations seek to 
encourage our partners and community to reduce their reliance on single use 
plastics and to recycle as much plastic as practicable. AES have confirmed 
that they will be able to develop a number of awareness campaigns from 
within their existing budgets and will seek to launch their first campaign “leave 
it loose” in the coming months.

Page 12



3.5 The most significant area of risk in regards to financial implications is in regard 
to future procurement activities. In having a desire to reduce our reliance on 
single use plastics, the cost of sourcing alternative products could increase. 
Until procurement exercises are undertaken and tenders received and 
assessed, the financial impact of changing from single use plastic products will 
not be fully known.

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 This report links to two Corporate Priorities:
 Effective recycling and waste management and 
 Effective provision of quality parks and open space.

5. Alternative Options

5.1 Inevitably there are two options available to the Committee:
1. To propose that the Executive approve the recommendations as detailed at 

2.1 demonstrating our commitment to this important issue. (Recommended)
2.  To do nothing. This could be reputationally damaging for the Council in light 
of its plans to declare a climate change emergency.  (not recommended)

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

12.12.18 Full Council minutes
6.2.19 Community Select minutes
25.3.19 Single use plastic working group minutes 
31.7.19 Single use plastic working group minutes 
24.10.19 Single use plastic working group minutes 
14.11.19 Single use plastic working group minutes

Nicola Kemp
Head of Service Commissioning
nkemp@highpeak.gov.uk

6. Detail

6.1 At the meeting on 12 December 2018, the Council resolved as follows:
‘The Council notes:

 the serious concerns about plastic pollution set out by Councillor Todd 
and Councillor Kerr in their notice of motion (see Appendix 1) , in 
particular relating to single use plastics;

 the proposed principles, remedies and actions set out in the notice of 
motion (see Appendix 1)

 the widespread public and corporate support for effective action to deal 
with plastic pollution.

            The Council therefore requests the Chair of the Community Select Committee 
to establish a sub-committee to undertake appropriate research, taking into 

Page 13



account evidence from local public sector and corporate partners with the task 
of recommending an effective, achievable, timed and costed plan of action by 
the Council for consideration as part of the new Corporate Plan agreed for 
implementation during the four years after the May elections 2019.’

6.2 At its meeting on the 6th February 2019 this Committee appointed members to 
the SUPWG and agreed the terms of reference for the group’s future work. 
The membership of the group was confirmed as Councillors Atkins, Flower, 
Haken, Kerr, Todd and Young and it was agreed that the first meeting be held 
on the 25th March 2019. 

6.3 At the first meeting it was agreed that the purpose/role of the group would be:

To identify an effective, achievable, timed and costed plan of action by the 
Council in regards to single use plastics for consideration as part of the new 
Corporate Plan agreed for implementation during the four years after the May     
elections 2019

The group also agreed the following programme of future meetings:
1. Service provision - explanation of existing council recycling services, 

implications of draft Resources & Waste Strategy and consideration of the 
future impact on HPBC,

2. Influencing partners – feedback from partners in regards to current activity 
and future plans (to inc. contracted partners, Nestle etc), consideration of 
plastic use to be fed into corporate procurement processes,

3. Promotion and support – communication activities to encourage residents 
and businesses,

6.4 Following the May local election the membership of the group changed slightly 
Councillors Collins, Haken, Kelly, Kerr, Stone and Young became the 
confirmed members of the working group

6.5 At the meeting on the 31st July 2019 two briefing notes were provided to 
members, detailing:

 the recycling services currently available to residents and business of 
the High Peak and 

 an overview of the recently issued draft national Resources & Waste 
Strategy.

6.6 At its meeting on the 24th October, partners were invited to update the group 
on their activity to reduce single use plastics. Members received a 
presentation from Parkwood Leisure who detailed their activity across the High 
Peak leisure centres and at the Pavilion Gardens complex. A briefing note was 
also provided by Nestle and Alliance Environmental Services Ltd (AES).

6.7 At 14th November meeting, colleagues from ANSA and AES attended, 
providing examples of behavioural change campaigns they were successfully 
delivering in Cheshire East. It was requested by the group that these be 
replicated across the High Peak.

Page 14



6.8 At its final meeting in November 2019 the group agreed the following 
recommendations be proposed to the Community Select Committee:

 To develop a single use plastics policy for HPBC thus demonstrating 
our commitment to this important matter,

 To develop awareness campaigns with partners to encourage 
employees, residents, schools and businesses to reduce their reliance 
on single use plastics and to continue to support national campaigns 
such as Spring Clean events which encourage increased involvement 
in community litter picks.

 To determine the feasibility of developing a certification for local 
businesses who swap packaging and reduce their reliance on single 
use plastics. The group suggested that it be explored to determine 
whether the certification could be undertaken via our existing licensing 
systems or food safety inspections, or be monitored and awarded by 
local community groups.

6.9 The draft Single Use Plastics Policy for HPBC is provided at Appendix 2.

6.10 The financial implications of the proposed policy are not fully known at this 
stage. A significant proportion of aspirations seek to encourage our partners 
and community to reduce their reliance on single use plastics and to recycle 
as much plastic as practicable. AES have confirmed that they will be able to 
develop a number of awareness campaigns from within their existing budgets 
and will seek to launch their first campaign “leave it loose” in the coming 
months. 

6.11 The introduction of recycling facilities to enable our employees and members 
to recycle the commonest types of plastics from within the main council offices 
i.e. bottles, tubs and trays is being explored by the Assets team. It is hoped 
that such facilities will be introduced at Buxton Town Hall before the end of the 
current financial year. This will include the provision of dedicated recycling 
bins and communication material in kitchen areas to ensure recycling is as 
easy as possible.

6.12 Support of local and national campaigns including community and voluntary 
litter pick initiatives will have negligible financial impact on the council. In 
recent years our support of such activities have increased and additional 
resources including extra litter picking equipment has been funded from 
sources supplied by Government. 

6.13 The most significant area of risk in regards to financial implications is in regard 
to future procurement activities. In having a desire to reduce our reliance on 
single use plastics the cost of alternative products could increase. Until 
procurement exercises are undertaken and tenders received and assessed 
the financial impact of changing from single use plastic products will not be 
fully known. 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Motion from the High Peak Labour Group to Full Council : Single Use Plastics 

Proposed by Cllr Jean Todd

Seconded by Cllr David Kerr

This Council notes: 

 Most plastic does not decompose; a plastic bottle can last for 450 years in the marine 
environment. Plastic slowly fragments into smaller pieces but never truly go away- these 
are known as microplastics.

 Everyday approximately 8 million pieces of plastic are entering the oceans. Estimates 
suggest that by 2050 there could be more plastic in our oceans than fish.

 Approximately 5,000 items of marine plastic pollution have been found per mile of beach in 
the UK. Plastic bottles and packaging make up a third of plastic pollution entering the sea. 
Tyre dust, maritime waste, nurdles and synthetic microfibers make up another 47% of the 
problem.

 Plastic pollution causes harm to wildlife such as fish, seabirds and dolphins. Recent 
research has found marine plastic in 100% of marine turtles, 59% of whales, 36% of seals 
and 40% of seabirds. 100,000 marine mammals and turtles are killed by plastic pollution 
every year. 1 in 3 fish caught for human consumption contains plastic.

 UK rivers have been found to be heavily polluted with microplastics. Recent studies have 
also found microplastics in both tap and bottled water.

 The plastics crisis requires action by national and local governments to reduce plastic 
pollution by increasing recycling rates and eliminate unnecessary single-use plastic (SUP).

This Council believes:

 We need to move away from a linear plastics economy, where we take, make and dispose 
of plastic, towards a circular system where we capture the value of plastics material - 
keeping plastic in the economy and out of the oceans.

 National government are not taking decisive action to deal with the problem of plastic 
pollution.

This Council therefore commits to:

 To become a full signatory of the ‘Plastic Free Pledge’ by eliminating all single-use plastics 
within Council managed buildings and facilities by 2020.

 Incorporate the reduction of single-use plastic into the Council’s waste strategy, and 
investigate ways to further improve our recycling performance by making it easier for 
residents to recycle by seeking ways in which a wider range of plastics and other dry 
recyclable materials can go into the brown bins.

 Consider with partners the installation of water fountains across the High Peak.
 Work with and encourage the public, local businesses, partners and institutions to go 

‘plastic free’. 
 Investigate incentivising traders on Council land to sell re-usable or non-plastic biogradable 

containers and invite customers to bring their own, with the aim of phasing out single-use 
plastics, including investigating the possibility of requiring food and drink vendors to avoid 
SUPs as a condition of their event permission.

 Work with existing local and national groups and experts such as Keep Britain Tidy to 
implement these changes.

 Ask the cabinet member responsible for the environment to write to the Government 
Minister for Environment, requesting that the reduction of single-use plastic form part of the 
government’s Resources and Waste Strategy.

Page 17



 Ensure, where practical, all future council procurement exercises eliminate the use of 
single-use plastics, replacing them with sustainable or re-usable alternatives where 
practicable. 

Page 18



High Peak Borough Council – Single Use Plastics policy

Plastic waste is one of the greatest environmental challenges facing the world today. 
The UK government estimates that there are more than 150 million tonnes of plastic 
in the world’s oceans affecting some 100,000 sea mammals and 1 million birds each 
year.

High Peak Borough Council wishes to become a leader in tackling climate change 
and has declared a climate change emergency. By tackling plastic waste we will be 
demonstrating that we are taking responsibility for our impact on the environment 
and community across the High Peak and beyond, thus signifying our commitment to 
this important issue.

Single use plastics include any disposable plastic item which is designed to be used 
only once. Examples include: plastic bags, disposable utensils, drinks containers and 
plastic cups, coffee sachets, milk portions, straws and stirrers. 

To help the High Peak reduce its reliance on single use plastic we will commit to 
delivering the following:

1. Work towards minimising the use of single use plastics across our own 
operations and services. Where the use of plastics is unavoidable, we will 
where practicable, encourage the use of recycled plastics.

2. Work with our partners to develop communication campaigns to encourage 
our employees, schools, businesses and the local community to recycle as 
much plastic as practicable and support them to reduce their reliance on 
plastics and in particular single use plastic. 

3. Provide recycling facilities within our offices to enable employees and 
members to easily recycle the commonest forms of plastic alongside other 
easily recyclable materials.

4. Work with our partners to minimise their reliance on single use plastics within 
their service provision and to encourage the use of sustainable alternatives 
(where appropriate).

5. Ensure all future procurement activity we undertake considers the elimination 
of single use plastics, where practicable, and encourages the use of 
sustainable or reusable alternatives.

6. Encourage organisers of events held on our land or in our buildings to reduce 
and in time eliminate the use of single use plastic.

7. Support community and voluntary litter pick initiatives to reduce and in time 
eliminate plastic litter from across the High Peak.

8. Support and promote local and national campaigns which seek to reduce our 
communities’ reliance on plastics.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Community Select Committee

5 February 2020

TITLE: Use of Inflatables on Council Owned Land

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Barrow-   Executive Member for 
Corporate Services and Finance

CONTACT OFFICER: Nicola Kemp - Head of Service 
Commissioning

WARDS INVOLVED: All

Appendices Attached –
A - SP033: Bouncy Castles and Inflatables

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To provide the Community Select Committee with an understanding of  
guidance and legislation associated with the use of inflatables along with 
potential risk of their use. 

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Committee recommend to the Executive that the use of inflatables be 
banned from use on council land when provided at events run by third parties.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 Inflatable use across the High Peak occurs in a number of forms, including:

 Via a concessions contract let by HPBC in Manor Park, Glossop, any 
inflatable would be operated by the contractor appointed by the council,

 At events which occur on our land i.e. parks and open spaces, these 
would be hired in or operated directly by the event organiser, 

 Within our leisure centres specifically within the swimming pools, Lex 
Leisure have inflatables which can be used in each pool.

3.2 The councils Corporate Health & Safety Advisor (CHSA) developed a 
procedure SP033: Bouncy Castles and Inflatables in 2011, this has recently 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



been updated following revised guidance issued by the HSE in 2019. (see 
Appendix A). This Alliance wide guidance details the precautions to be taken 
when erecting and using inflatable devices on Council owned land and  is also 
intended to give direction to those proposing to hire or operate inflatable’s 
including bouncy castles as part of an organised event, or as part of a contract 
on behalf of the Council.

3.3 In light of the number of fatalities which have occurred nationally in the last 
four years, it is an appropriate time for the council to consider whether the use 
of inflatables on our land continue to be permitted. 

3.4 Legislation including the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 Sections 3 and 6 
applies in regards to the use of inflatables as does the Provision and Use of 
Work Equipment Regulations 1992. 

3.5 The Health & Safety Executive (HSE) supports two industry inspection 
schemes for inflatables run by PIPA  and Amusement Devices Inspection 
Procedures Scheme (ADIPs). Most play inflatables will display either a 
numbered PIPA tag or an ADIPs declaration of compliance (DoC) to show 
they comply with British Standard BS EN 14960. This applies to inflatables 
used both inside or outside.

3.6 Following a number of tragic fatalities in 2018, the HSE has published revised 
guidance for industry stakeholders and operators of inflatable equipment in 
early 2019. The revised guidance  recommends that operators carry out a 
range of checks and monitoring in line with the inflatable’s operator manual. 
This includes guidance that inflatables should not be used in winds above 24 
mph (38 kmph), Force 5 on the Beaufort Scale (small trees in leaf begin to 
sway at this wind speed) and that regular wind speed monitoring be 
undertaken using an anemometer.

3.7 In addition to this guidance some councils have taken a decision to ban the 
use of inflatables on their land.

3.8 Where inflatables are used indoors, for example by the councils leisure centre 
contractor, the associated risk is mitigated as the contractor, or the operator 
from whom the inflatables were hired, can be closely monitored. Similarly use 
outdoors by a concessions operator appointed by the Council can also be 
closely monitored for compliance with HSE guidance.

3.9 Where inflatables are used outdoors at events organised by third parties on 
our land, it is the event organiser who has liability for their safe provision and 
use. There is an increased risk in such instances that organisers may not give 
full consideration to the use of inflatables or be familiar with considerations 
they should be making. This places attendees and users at a higher risk of 
injury or worse.

3.10 Whilst the council can improve its event booking process to ensure we are 
aware of those events which plan to use inflatables ensuring we can give 
guidance to organisers regarding their proper use. As such events usually 
occur outside of normal working hours, it is impractical for the Council or its 

Page 22



officers to undertake checks on inflatables in use at events to ensure they are 
being used correctly and safely by either the event organisers or a hire 
company.

3.11 For this reason it is being recommended that a ban of inflatables at events 
held on our land when organised by third parties be enforced.

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 This report links to Aim one of our Coprrate Plan to “Supporting our 
communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak”.

5. Alternative Options

5.1 There are four options available to the Council in regards to the use of 
inflatables. This includes:
1. A total ban of the use of inflatables within councils buildings and on council 
land. This would prevent the use of such equipment across a range of services 
and could lead to complaints and reduced footfall in our parks, at our leisure 
centres  and at the Pavilion Gardens complex. This could increase the cost of 
operating these facilities as income generated by visitors/users fall thus 
placing  an increased financial burden on the council. (not recommended)
2. Permit the use of inflatables in both council buildings and on our land. 
Whilst further controls could be introduced to ensure we are aware of 
operators using or hiring inflatables so as to provide increased guidance, the 
council cannot monitor their safe use at all events placing users at increased 
risk. (not recommended)
3. Introduce a partial ban on inflatables permitting their use indoors (where use 
can be more rigoruously controlled) or where the council has a let concessions 
contract and can therefore monitor the operator closely. They would not be 
permitted for use outdoors at events arranged by third parties when held on 
our land. This option reduces risk to users and restricts the use of inflatables 
outdoors where risk is highest due to changeable weather conditions or as an 
event organiser may not be aware of their responsibility. (Recommended)  
4. Do nothing – Inflatables use continues to be permitted, the council does not 
modify the event booking process meaning we will be unaware when 
inflatables are to be used thuse preventing us from being able to provide event 
organisers with guidance. (not recommended)

5.2 As a result it is felt that a partial ban preventing the use of inflatables at 
outdoor events when arranged by third parties is the most sensible solution to 
reduce the risk to users and attendees.  It should be noted that this ban is not 
proposed to extend to gardens of tenanted council homes but would apply to 
public open space located in and around our council estates.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
The report details how we are seeking to protect our communities 

Page 23



through restricting the use of inflatables.

6.2 Workforce
As detailed within the report.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's 
Diversity and Equality Policies.

6.4 Financial Considerations
No implications

6.5 Legal
As detailed within the report in regards to health and safety 
responsibilities and liability.

6.6 Sustainability
No implications

6.7 Consultation

6.8 Risk Assessment
The assessment of risk to users of inflatables has been paramount 
to the production of this report and the consideration as to whether 
a ban on their use reduces risk sufficiently.

Mary Walker
Assistant Chief Executive

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Nicola Kemp
Head of Service Commissioning
nicola.kemp@highpeak.gov.uk

7. Detail

7.1 Inflatable use across the High Peak occurs in a number of forms, including:

 Via a concessions contract let by HPBC in Manor Park, Glossop, any 
inflatable would be operated by the contractor appointed by the council,

 At events which occur on our land i.e. parks and open spaces, these would 
be hired in or operated directly by the event organiser, 

 Within our leisure centres specifically within the swimming pools, Lex 
Leisure have inflatables which can be used in each pool.

6.4

Page 24



7.2 The councils Corporate Health & Safety Advisor (CHSA) developed a 
procedure SP033: Bouncy Castles and Inflatables in 2011, this was last 
updated in 2018 (see Appendix A). This Alliance wide guidance details the 
precautions to be taken when erecting and using inflatable devices on Council 
owned land. 

7.3 It is also intended to give direction to those proposing to hire or operate 
inflatable’s including bouncy castles as part of an organised event, or as part 
of a contract on behalf of the Council. 

7.2 In light of the number of fatalities which have occurred nationally in the last 
four years, it is an appropriate time for the council to consider whether the use 
of inflatables on our land continue to be permitted. 

8. Legislation and HSE guidance

8.1 Legislation including the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 Sections 3 and 6 
applies in regards to the use of inflatables as does the Provision and Use of 
Work Equipment Regulations 1992.

8.2 The Health & Safety Executive (HSE) supports two industry inspection 
schemes for inflatables run by PIPA  and Amusement Devices Inspection 
Procedures Scheme (ADIPs). Most play inflatables will display either a 
numbered PIPA tag or an ADIPs declaration of compliance (DoC) to show 
they comply with British Standard BS EN 14960. This applies to inflatables 
used both inside or outside.

8.3 An owner or the person making the inflatable available for use, is responsible 
for making sure a range of tests are carried out, including:

 An ‘initial test’ following purchase to confirm it complies with BS EN 14960.
 An annual inspection by a competent person. This person should review 

previous inspection reports and certificates and will inspect all parts of the 
inflatable and its equipment that affects its safe operation including; 

o wear or rips in the fabric, 
o the internal air pressure, 
o the number and condition of the anchors, 
o the firmness of any walls and towers, 
o the condition of the blower and whether it has sufficient mesh 

guards.

8.4 Following a number of tragic fatalities in 2018, the HSE has published revised 
guidance for industry stakeholders and operators of inflatable equipment in 
early 2019.

8.4 The availability of clear guidance/standards and the now widely known 
potential for inflatable play equipment injury means that Environmental Health 
Officers who find operators of inflatable play equipment not meeting the 
required standards and therefore putting children at risk, can take strong 
enforcement action.

Page 25



8.5 The revised HSE guidance  recommends that operators carry out the following 
in line with the inflatable’s operator manual:
 No inflatable should be used in winds above 24 mph (38 kmph), Force 5 on 

the Beaufort Scale (small trees in leaf begin to sway at this wind speed). 
 The manufacturer’s operating manual should be referred to, to determine if 

the inflatable has a lower maximum wind speed for operations, in order to 
confirm the maximum wind speed for the safe operation of the inflatable. 

 When the inflatable is being operated outside, an anemometer should be 
used to measure the wind speed at regular intervals. If one is not available, 
the inflatable should not be operated outside.

 Smartphone weather applications should not be used to measure wind 
speed as they do not take localised wind conditions into account.

 When using the inflatable outside, all anchor points must be used, with 
metal ground stakes at least 380 mm long and 16 mm wide, with a rounded 
top. They should have a welded metal 'O' or 'D' ring fitted to the end.

 All inflatables must have at least 6 anchor points. The operators manual 
should be referred to, to confirm how many there should be, these should 
be regularly checked to ensure they remain in place and have not been 
removed.

 Ropes used to secure the inflatable should be in good condition and not be 
stretched, frayed or rotten. Improvised tow ropes, eg. bungee cord should 
not be used.

 If ground stakes cannot be used because of the surface (eg tarmac) ballast 
should be used with anchor points each weighing at least 163 kg and with 
suitable fixings to attach the guy ropes. The inflatable should be tightly 
secured to the ground so that the wind cannot get under it and lift it up.

 If an inflatable is being used indoors, the operator’s manual should be 
referred to, to provide instruction on what anchorage is necessary to 
maintain the shape of the device and prevent overturn.   

 All other associated equipment must be safe, including the blower. 

8.4 In addition, the HSE recommends that there should be constant supervision of 
an inflatable or bouncy castle by at least one suitably trained person. 

8.5 Furthermore, operating instructions must be supplied to persons hiring an 
inflatable for use, for example at an event, this should include the following: 
 Detail restrictions on the number of users on the inflatable at any one time 

to the limit as specified in the operators manual or on the unit label. This 
should never be exceeded, a user height limit may also be required to 
restrict bigger users separate from smaller ones.

 Make sure users can get on and off safely, with safety matting at the 
entrance that is no more than 2 inches deep.

 Users should not wear shoes or glasses and should empty their pockets of 
all sharp or dangerous items.

 Anyone obviously intoxicated should not be allowed on.
 Users should be prevented from climbing or hang ing on the walls.
 Anchor points should be regularly checked to ensure they remain secure.

9. Councils Banning Inflatables on their land

Page 26



9.1 A number of Councils have in recent years banned the use of inflatables, such 
as slides and bouncy castles on their land. In most cases the ban has been 
introduced as a result of a fatality within the council area or nearby. The table 
below details those authorities that have taken this decision.

Local Authority Reason Type Banned Date
Woking Borough 
Council

Fatal Accident at an 
event held on 
council land

Inflatable slides March 2019

Ormsby and 
Scatby Parish 
Council

Followed decision of 
Havant

Bouncy Castles August 2018

Havant Borough 
Council

Explosion/Fatality Bouncy Castles July 2018

Harlow Council Fatal Accident- blew 
away

All inflatables March 2016

Fife Council 8 Accidents All inflatables October 2008

9.2 It should be recognised that there may be other local authorities who have 
banned inflatables on their land, the Councils listed above are those whose 
bans have been promoted in the main media. To our knowledge no councils in 
Derbyshire have taken a decision to ban inflatables. 

9.3 There is much evidence to confirm that many injuries occur whilst using a 
bouncy castle or other type of inflatable play equipment. Injuries are often 
caused by people bouncing off the inflatable onto the ground, being hit by 
other people or by just falling awkwardly. A number of recent fatal accidents to 
users have occurred where bouncy castles were not anchored safely.

9.4 Many accidents could be prevented by improved supervision and sensible 
use; however there is a risk of a serious disabling injury even when they are 
correctly operated. This report has been drafted to not only highlight guidance 
around the use of inflatables and associated risk but also to ensure the council 
is adequately protected from liability when they are used on its land.

9.5 The councils insurer Zurich was asked to provide its view on the use of 
inflatables and associated risk. They were unable to provide the Council with a 
definitive or recommended position but confirmed in their opinion that there 
remain significant risks with their use.

10. Use of inflatables by our contractors

Concessions contract

10.1 In the High Peak the provision of children’s rides via two concessions 
contracts have been in place historically at Pavilion Gardens and Manor Park 
for many years.  

Page 27



10.2 The Pavilion Gardens concessions contract, now operated by Parkwood 
Leisure, enables them under the terms of their contract and lease, to provide 
children’s rides or inflatables in a designated area next to the lake. Parkwood 
would have responsibility for monitoring any operator to ensure compliance 
with HSE guidance and that the operator has appropriate insurance in place. 

10.3 The Manor Park contract is managed and monitored by the councils Service 
Commissioning Team. Inflatables have been allowed as part of this provision 
alongside the provision of children rides. 

10.4 A procurement exercise for a new operator at Manor Park is required for 2020. 
As part of the procurement exercise operators will be required to submit their 
annual ADIP/PIPA certificates for each inflatable item they propose to use, 
alongside associated risk assessments, operating procedures and their 
certificate of insurance to a cover level dictated by the council. 

10.5 Upon appointment, the operator would be regularly monitored to ensure that 
they continue to operate in a safe manner. Such monitoring could be 
undertaken by the CHSA or an Environmental Health Officer but would most 
commonly be undertaken by a Project Officer from the Service Commissioning 
Team, as part of contract compliance checks. 

10.6 Generally the concessions contracts have run smoothly without incident. Two 
known incidents have occurred in the last ten years that the council is aware 
of:
1. In 2009-10 the HSE took action against the appointed concession operator 

for issues of non-compliance. This action was taken after a series of 
inspections by the CHSA, and as the operator undertook no recommended 
follow up action.

2. In 2013 an accident occurred on an inflatable provided by a concessions 
operator at Manor Park, resulting in a small child suffereing a broken arm. 
Whilst the council was notified of the accident, the operator was pursued 
with an insurance claim for damages as they were liable for the operation 
of the inflatable.

Pavilion Gardens and Leisure contracts

10.7 Parkwood Leisure, the operator of the Pavilion Gardens complex as a result of 
poor, wet weather in summer introduced in 2019 indoor inflatable events in the 
Octagon Hall. These large inflatables were introduced to increase footfall and 
visitor numbers during the school holidays, their use was well received. 
Parkwood have liability to ensure the inflatables are used correctly and in line 
with HSE guidance.

10.8 Pool inflatables are regularly used within the councils leisure centres. These 
are operated by Lex Leisure providing fun activities in school holidays or for 
pool parties.  Liability for their correct use lies solely with Lex Leisure.

11. Use of inflatables at Events

Page 28



11.1 The Council regularly permits events to be held within its parks and on open 
spaces. An event booking process is in place to ensure the Council is content 
that health and safety and other other considerations have been made by the 
organiser.

11.2 At the planning stage of an event, the organiser must complete an Event 
Request Form, this is submited along with additional detail to the council for 
consideration. This request form does not currently ask an event organiser 
whether they plan to hire in or operate an inflatable at the event. Therefore we 
are unaware how many inflatables have been used on events held on our land 
in recent years.

11.3 Liability should an incident occur at an event on our land sits with the event 
organiser. All organisers as a result are required to have Public Liability 
Insurance (PLI). This ensures they, and separately the Council, are protected 
from unfortunate occurrences such as an injury to an attendee.

11.4 In 2019, the Alliance decided to categorise events as low, medium or high risk 
in order to determine the level of PLI required. The agreed categorisations are 
as follows:

 Low risk (requires PLI of £1million) -  less than 149 attendees, activities 
undertaken which are in keeping with a park or open space, event has 
little or no commerciality and does not involve any licensable activities, 
i.e. an event operated by a community group or fund raising.

 Medium risk (requires PLI of £5 million) -  150-1,499 attendees 
expected, provision of limited activities not in keeping with a park or 
open space, some commercial activity is provided i.e. food and drinks 
concessions/sales and potential licensable activities, i.e. community 
group, charity or a friends group organising an event such as a car rally, 
sporting event or large scale fund raising event.

 High risk  (requires PLI of £10 million) -  an event which expects +1,500 
attendees such as a commercial fair or circus and which would include 
a range of high risk activities including the installation of large 
temporary structures such as marquees, fair rides or amusements, the 
sale of alcohol (separately licensed), firework displays or bonfires and 
other licensable activities including food and drink concessions. 

11.5 Inflatable equipment used at an event may be hired by the event organiser 
which we would hope would be from a reputable company. Meaning the 
equipment would be set up, operated and supervised by the hire company’s 
own staff. This company would be required to fully comply with HSE guidance 
as detailed earlier in this report, which ensures all aspects of safety are 
considered and monitored, the hire company should also be checked to 
ensure it employs suitably experienced and trained adult personnel. 

11.6 In such instances the event organiser hiring an inflatable should obtain risk 
assessments from the supplier. These should detail the delivery and retrieval, 
siting, set-up and if appropriate the supervision of the equipment. All aspects 
of use of the inflatable should then be detailed in the event risk assessment 
produced by the event organiser. This is a requirement of the Management of 
Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999. 

Page 29



11.7 If the organiser intends to operate the inflatable themselves, they must ensure 
that they are provided with written instructions about the safe setting up, 
operation and supervision of the equipment, they should also obtain evidence 
that the equipment has been properly maintained  via  an ADIP inspection 
report or equivalent. 

11.8 In both scenerios as part of the event booking process, officers would request 
to see copies of the event risk assessment along with the site plan and copies 
of PLI certificates before authorising an event. Currently the councils event 
booking process does not ask the organiser if they plan to provide an inflatable 
at their event. Meaning there is an increased risk that event organisers may 
not give full consideration to their use or be familiar with considerations they 
should be making.

11.9 Taking into account the number of accidents and fatalities that have occurred 
nationally in recent years, the use of inflatables at events is seemingly the 
biggest area of risk given that event organisers may not be fully aware of their 
roles and responsibilities in regards to the provision or operation of an 
inflatable. 

11.10 The council can improve its event booking process to ensure we are in future 
aware of those events which plan to use inflatables ensuring we can give 
guidance to event organisers regarding their proper use. It should though be 
recognised that as these events usually occur outside of normal working 
hours, it is impractical for the Council or its officers to undertake checks on 
inflatables in use at such events to ensure they are being used correctly and 
safely by either the event organisers or a hire company. Therefore risk levels 
whilst dimished will not be fully addressed by this additional action.

Page 30



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Ref: SP033 Bouncy Castles Issue Date: November 2019 Rev 2 Page 1 of 6

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and High Peak Borough Council

SP033: Bouncy Castles and Inflatables

Purpose

This procedure has been developed to provide additional guidance on the precautions to 
be taken when erecting and using inflatable devices on Council owned land. 

This document is also intended to give direction to those proposing to hire or operate 
inflatable’s including bouncy castles as part of their organised event, or as part of a 
contract on behalf of the Council.

Serious incidents have occurred where inflatables have collapsed or blown away in windy 
conditions. 

Health and safety law applies to the supply, hire and use of inflatables for commercial 
purposes. It does not apply to private, domestic buyers and users.

If followed, the guidance here will assist us in reducing accidents and potential liability to 
all parties concerned.  

Related Documents

Health and Safety at Work, etc Act 1974;
Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999;
Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1992:
British Standard EN 14960-2013- Inflatable Play Equipment
HSG 175 Fairgrounds and Amusement Parks- Guidance on Safe Practice;
Note PM76- The Safe Operation of Inflatable Bouncing Devices.
The Events Safety Guide – 2016
PIPPA or ADIPS Inspection Programme
HSE Guidance 2019

Approval

This document was approved by the Corporate Health and Safety Committee on 
December 17th 2019 and supersedes all other previous documents issued on this subject.

Introduction

There is much evidence to confirm that many injuries occur whilst using a bouncy castle or 
other type of inflatable play equipment. Most of the injuries are caused by people bouncing 
off the inflatable onto the ground, being hit by other people or by just falling awkwardly. 
More recently there have been a number of occasions nationally where bouncy castles 
were not anchored safely causing fatal injuries to users.

Page 31

http://www2.halton.gov.uk/pdfs/policingandpublicsafety/bouncycastles?a=5441.


__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Ref: SP033 Bouncy Castles Issue Date: November 2019 Rev 2 Page 2 of 6

 Many of these accidents could have been prevented by adequate supervision and 
sensible use; however there is a risk of serious disabling injury even when they are 
correctly operated. Accidents also occur as most bouncy castles and inflatables are 
designed for use by children not adults. 

Policy

Events

At the planning of an event stage the event organiser must complete an Outdoor Event 
Request Form and submit this along with additional detail to the Council for consideration 
discussion and permission. The event organiser will need to make their application well in 
advance of their event not only to ensure the area of land chosen is available but to give 
themselves sufficient time to collect the documentation that will be required as part of the 
process. 

Where hired the equipment should be hired from a reputable hire company and wherever 
possible set up, operated and supervised by the hire company’s own staff. They should 
fully comply with the Health and Safety Executive Guidance Note PM76-'The Safe 
Operation of Inflatable Bouncing Devices'. (This important guide deals with all aspects of 
safety) and employ suitably experienced and trained adult personnel. 

If as part of an event it is proposed that the organiser intends to operate the inflatable 
themselves, they must ensure that they are provided with written instructions about the 
safe setting up, operation and supervision of the equipment and that they have evidence 
that the equipment has been properly maintained in the form of the Amusement Devices 
Inspection Procedures Scheme (ADIPS) inspection report or equivalent. 

The event organiser will need to obtain risk assessments from the supplier of the inflatable 
to cover the delivery and retrieval, siting, set-up and if appropriate the supervision of the 
equipment. In addition the event organiser must ensure that all aspects of the use of the 
inflatable are included in the event risk assessment. This is a requirement of the 
Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999. The Council will require 
copies of these documents, along with the site plan, and copies of public liability insurance 
certificates.

It is the duty of the organiser/contractor to check the site prior to setting up for any event. 
Although regular inspections are made on all Council open spaces, it is not done on a day 
to day basis and hazards may exist. Should an event organiser/contractor spot any 
hazardous area they should notify the Council as soon as possible so it can be rectified 
prior to the event. 

Part of the responsibilities of the organiser/contractor is to ensure that the entire area 
hired, including surrounding areas has not been littered with rubbish from event. 

The event organiser's/contractors insurance should cover any damage to the Council’s 
Ground Maintenance Equipment as a result of items left on or in the ground following the 
event.  Care should be taken to avoid spillage of hazardous liquids resulting in damage to 
either grass or shrubs etc. 

Page 32

http://www2.halton.gov.uk/pdfs/policingandpublicsafety/bouncycastles?a=5441.
http://www2.halton.gov.uk/pdfs/policingandpublicsafety/bouncycastles?a=5441.


__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Ref: SP033 Bouncy Castles Issue Date: November 2019 Rev 2 Page 3 of 6

Controllers (Contractors)

Where a contract for the provision of Inflatables has been established the controller 
(contractor) must ensure that all of the requirements of the contract specification are met 
and that the above controls are also in place. 

Additionally, they must also ensure the following: 

 Adequate adult supervision is maintained; 
 Risk assessments are developed, maintained, communicated and reviewed;
 Access to dangerous (parts of) machinery (inadequately protected, or unguarded 

blower units) is restricted at all times;
 Wind checks are carried out and recorded device must not be used if there is a strong 

wind or in wet weather;
 Accidents to members of the public are reported to the HSE as appropriate and 

Council;
 New equipment or devices are not introduced unless agreed in writing by the Council;
 Daily compliance checks must be made and recorded; 
 In case of fire, adequate means of escape must be maintained at all times and 

adequate fire fighting equipment available on site;

Recognised Hazards

 Instability and blowing away in windy conditions;
 Falls from the structure;
 Tripping (particularly over anchorages);
 Injury to users caused by boisterous behaviour or overcrowding;
 Access to dangerous (parts of) machinery (inadequately protected, or unguarded 

blower units);
 Electrical hazards (e.g., shock or burns);
 Inadequate means of escape in case of fire;
 Injury to users caused by wearing inappropriate clothes and shoes;
 Suffocation and entrapment.

Recommended Health and Safety Control Measures

When setting up, carry out the following safety checks in line with the inflatable’s operator 
manual:

No inflatable should be used in winds above 24 mph (38 kmph), which is Force 5 on the 
Beaufort scale (small trees in leaf begin to sway) All inflatable operators should have 
available an anemometer for measuring wind conditions. Measurements should be taken 
at regular intervals and recorded. It is not acceptable to use phone based weather apps to 
measure wind conditions, as localised conditions can vary significantly.

Certain inflatables may have a lower maximum wind speed for operation. Always check 
the manufacturer’s operating manual to confirm the maximum wind speed for the safe 
operation of the inflatable.

Page 33



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Ref: SP033 Bouncy Castles Issue Date: November 2019 Rev 2 Page 4 of 6

When the inflatable is being operated outside, use an anemometer to measure the wind 
speed at regular intervals. If one of these is not available, the inflatable should not be 
operated outside.

Do not use smartphone weather applications to measure wind speed as they do not take 
localised wind conditions into account.

When using the inflatable outside, all the anchor points must be used, with metal ground 
stakes at least 380 mm long and 16 mm wide, with a rounded top. They should have a 
welded metal 'O' or 'D' ring fitted to the end
All inflatables must have at least 6 anchor points. The operator manual will tell you how 
many there should be, and you should check to ensure they are all still in place and have 
not been removed.

The ropes used to secure the inflatable should be in good condition and not stretched, 
frayed or rotten. Never use improvised tow ropes, e.g. a bungee cord.

If ground stakes cannot be used because of the surface (e.g. tarmac) use ballast with 
anchor points each weighing at least 163 kg and with suitable fixings to attach the guy 
ropes. The inflatable should be tightly secured to the ground so that the wind cannot get 
under it and lift it up.

If an inflatable is being used indoors, refer to the operator’s manual which will provide 
instruction on what anchorage is necessary to maintain the shape of the device and 
prevent overturn.

       Before use

          Check:

The correct blower is being used (the blower specification, including output, will be given in 
the operating manual). The correct blower should be being used to inflate the device (the 
blower specification, including output, will be given in the operating manual). 

The blower should be well maintained, and a visual check should be undertaken to ensure 
that there are no obvious signs of over-tension or sagging of the structure. The 
manufacturers operating manual should also specific the time it should take for the device 
to inflate fully. 

 
The use of a blower with either the incorrect output, or one that is poorly maintained can 
cause an issue with the stability and integrity of the inflatable device giving rise to a risk of 
serious personal injury. 

All associated electrical equipment including blowers must be in good condition.

There are no obvious signs of over-tension or sagging of the structure. Also check if the 
anchor points have been pulled out during inflation and the connection tube and blower 
are firmly attached to each other Impact-absorbing mats are in position.

There are no holes or rips in the fabric or seams.

Page 34



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Ref: SP033 Bouncy Castles Issue Date: November 2019 Rev 2 Page 5 of 6

It looks symmetrical – if it looks misshapen or deformed there could be internal problems 
that make bouncing unpredictable and it should therefore not be used.

Safe use, supervision and monitoring
There should be constant supervision by at least one suitably trained person over the age 
of 18. 

Operators should be able to demonstrate a practical appreciation and understanding of the 
risk associated with the operation of their device that follows the information set out within 
the operating manual and HSE guidance. 

Operating instructions must be supplied on site and should include the following: 

Restrict the number of users on the inflatable at the same time to the limit in the operator 
manual or on the unit label. Do not exceed the user height limit and keep bigger users 
separated from smaller ones.

Make sure users can get on and off safely, with safety matting at the entrance that is no 
more than 2 inches deep.

Users should not wear shoes or glasses, and should empty their pockets of all sharp or     
dangerous items.

Anyone obviously intoxicated should not be allowed on the bouncy castle/inflatables.

Don’t allow users to climb or hang on the walls.

Regularly check that anchor points are still secure.

When operating the inflatable outside, use an anemometer to measure wind conditions at 
regular intervals, and visually check for changes in wind direction (such as looking at how 
the trees are swaying). 

Ensure wind speed readings are made in the direction of the wind. 

Tests and inspections

Initial test- A new inflatable should have an ‘initial test’ to confirm it complies with BS EN 
14960 before it is used.

Annual inspection- Should be carried out by a competent person. They should identify the 
inflatable and blower by their serial numbers and look at any previous inspection reports 
and certificates. 

The inspection should cover any part of the inflatable and its equipment that may affect its 
safe operation.

        Insurance

Page 35



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Ref: SP033 Bouncy Castles Issue Date: November 2019 Rev 2 Page 6 of 6

Before confirming your booking, you must check that the hire company holds Public 
Liability (“third party”) insurance to cover the risk of injuries for at least £5M any one 
incident. A number of hire companies use an overseas-based insurer that is NOT 
acceptable to the Council so ask for written confirmation of the cover and send it to the 
Insurance Officer for approval before you take the booking.

Controllers (Contractors) must hold Public Liability (“third party”) insurance to cover the 
risk of injuries for at least £5M any one incident. Contractors and event organisers are 
reminded to ensure that any special conditions stipulated in their insurance policies are 
met at all times.

Checklist

The following is a guide to ensure that the necessary information regarding the use of 
inflatables is available prior to the event;

 Hire Company Insurance Certificate
 First-aid Provision
 Event Risk Assessment 
 Fire Provision
 Hire Company Risk Assessment document 
 Pre use inspection- Wind speed anchorage points
 ADIPS/PIPPA Inspection Report or equivalent
 Site Plan

Further Information

Amusement Devices Inspection Procedures Scheme
         http://www.adips.co.uk/

MONITORING, AUDIT AND REVIEW

The suitability of this procedure is monitored periodically by the Corporate Health and 
Safety Advisor, compliance checks will be carried out by those officers agreeing to the use 
of Bouncy Castles and Inflatables on Council Land. 

           

Page 36



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Community Select Committee

5 February 2020

TITLE: Dog Control Orders

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Todd - Executive Councillor for 
Climate Change, Environment and 
Community Safety

CONTACT OFFICER: David Smith - Principal Officer Communities 
& Partnerships

WARDS INVOLVED: (All Wards)

Appendices Attached – Draft Public Spaces Protection Order

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 High Peak is currently covered by two Orders which make it an offence if a 
person in charge of a dog at the relevant time does not:

i. remove dog faeces forthwith if the dog defecates;
ii. put and keep a dog on a lead if required to do so by a Council Officer to 

prevent the dog causing annoyance or disturbance to any other person 
or the worrying or disturbance of any animal or bird.

1.2 The Orders will cease to have effect on 20th October 2020 and thus need to be 
extended or replaced if the Council wishes to continue to have the power to 
take action in respect of dog fouling and nuisance behaviour. 

2. Recommendation

2.1 The Committee recommends that the Executive agrees to carry out public 
consultation on the draft Order appended to this report.

2.2 The Committee recommends that the Executive subsequently approves the 
draft Order by Individual Executive Decision unless the responses from the 
consultation necessitate material changes to the draft Order.

2.3 The Committee recommends that, in the event of a new order being approved 
prior to 20th October 2020, formal notice of discharge of the existing Orders 
should be published simultaneously with the introduction of the replacement 
Order.

Page 37

Agenda Item 8



3. Executive Summary

3.1 There are two Orders in effect in the Borough which make it an offence if 
someone fails to remove dog faeces if a dog in their control defecates and if 
they fail to place a dog on a lead when directed to do so by a Council Officer 
to prevent annoyance/disturbance. The Orders will cease to have effect on 
20th October 2020.

3.2 A revised Order is presented as an Appendix to this report. The draft Order 
reflects the provisions of the current Order but also addresses two issues that 
have been identified with the current Orders by:

 Making it a further breach of the Order if an offender does not provide their 
details; and

 Specifying that the responsibility for the breach rests with the parent/carer 
where the person in actual control of the dog at the time of the breach is 
under 16.

3.3 The Council must carry out consultation before making or extending an Order. 
Where an order is discharged, a notice identifying the order and stating the 
date when it ceases to have effect must be published in accordance with 
regulations made by the Secretary of State.

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The report supports the corporate priority of ‘Supporting our communities to 
create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak’.

5. Alternative Options

5.1 The Council could choose to extend the current Orders. However, this would 
not provide an opportunity to (i) address the issue of failure of those under the 
age of 16 to remove faeces, or (ii) make it an offence for a suspected offender 
to fail to provide an Authorised officer with their correct name and address.

5.2 Alternatively, the Council could choose to not replace the current Orders when 
they expire and no longer take enforcement action in respect of dog fouling.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)

The introduction of the Order would assist in preventing nuisance 
and environmental crime (dog fouling).

6.2 Workforce

None – the current officers already enforce under the existing 
Orders.

Page 38



6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment

It is recognised that some groups may find it difficult to comply with 
the Order and hence exemptions are provided for people who are 
(i) registered blind or (ii) have a disability that affects their mobility, 
manual dexterity, physical coordination or ability to lift, carry or 
otherwise move everyday objects, in respect of a dog trained by a 
prescribed charity and upon which they rely for assistance.

6.4 Financial Considerations

None, enforcement of the Orders would be delivered within current 
budgets.

6.5 Legal

The draft Order has been reviewed by Legal Services. 

6.6 Sustainability

None.

6.7 Consultation

Under section 72 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act 2014, the Council is required to carry out “necessary” 
consultation, publicity and notification prior to introducing (or 
extending) an Order.

Necessary consultation means consulting with:
(a) the chief officer of police, and the local policing body, for the 
police area that includes the restricted area;
(b) whatever community representatives the local authority thinks it 
appropriate to consult; and
(c) the owner or occupier of land within the restricted area.

Necessary publicity means publishing the text of the proposed 
Order.

Necessary notification means notifying any parish or community 
councils, and the County Council.

The requirement to consult with the owner or occupier of land 
within the restricted area does not apply to land that is owned and 
occupied by the local authority; and applies only to the extent that it 
is reasonably practicable to consult the owner or occupier of the 
land.

6.8 Risk Assessment

None.

6.4

Page 39



Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

www.highpeak.gov.uk/pspo David Smith
Principal Officer Communities & Partnerships
david.smith@highpeak.gov.uk

7. Detail

7.1 Dog fouling is an issue that is often a concern for the public. Unlike littering, 
which is an offence under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, there is no 
specific offence of failing to remove dog faeces. Instead, local authorities are 
required to introduce specific Orders to address the problem.

7.2 The Council introduced two Dog Control Orders in 2011 utilising powers 
available in the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act (CNEA) 2005:
 The Fouling of Land by Dogs (High Peak Borough Council) Order 2014; 

and
 The Dogs on Leads by Direction (High Peak Borough Council) Order 

2014.

7.3 The first of these Orders makes it an offence if the person in charge of a dog 
at the relevant time does not remove faeces forthwith if the dog defecates. The 
second makes it an offence if a person in charge of a dog does not comply 
with a direction from an authorised officer of the Council to put and keep the 
dog on a lead of not more than six feet in length. An officer can only give such 
a direction if such restraint is reasonably necessary to prevent a nuisance or 
behaviour by the dog is likely to cause annoyance or disturbance to any other 
person or the worrying or disturbance of any animal or bird.

7.4 Under the CNEA, it was also an offence if someone did not provide their name 
and address when requested to do so by an officer.

7.5 The power to introduce Dog Control Orders was subsequently repealed by the 
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act (“ASB Act”) 2014. The ASB Act 
introduced Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs), which could be used to 
introduce the same requirements and prohibitions as available through Dog 
Control Orders but which also had a broader application. The ASB Act does 
not, however, make failure to provide a name and address when asked to do 
so by an officer in relation to a breach of an Order an offence. PSPOs last for 
three years but can be renewed.

7.6 Under the ASB Act, any pre-existing Dog Control Order continued to have 
effect for a further three years before automatically converting by operation of 
law to a PSPO. PSPOs have effect for a period of three years, which means 
that High Peak Borough Council’s current Orders continue to apply until 
20th October 2020.

Page 40

http://www.highpeak.gov.uk/pspo


7.7 The current DCO/PSPO has proved to be effective in most situations; 
however; two issues have been identified:

 The loss of the specific offence of ‘failing to provide details’ has removed 
the ability for Enforcement Officers  to encourage offenders to provide 
details by reminding them that they are committing a further offence if 
they do not provide the requested information.

 In a small number of cases, the individual in actual control of the dog has 
been under the age of 16. This proves problematical since the young 
person may well not have the financial means to pay a fixed penalty 
notice and it is questionable whether pursuing them through the courts is 
in the public interest. Where the young person is below the age of 10 
then they are below the age of criminal responsibility and the Council 
cannot take enforcement action.

7.8 No formal action has been taken under the Dogs on a Lead by Direction 
Order. However, this Order has proved to be useful in certain circumstances 
and provides Enforcement Officers and Horticultural Officers with the formal 
power to require dogs to be put and kept on a lead. It is therefore suggested 
that this power be retained.

7.9 A revised PSPO has been drafted (Appendix A) that reflects the provisions of 
the current PSPO but also addresses the two issues identified above by:

 Making it a further breach of the Order if an offender does not provide 
their details; and

 Specifying that the responsibility for the breach rests with the 
parent/carer where the person in actual control of the dog at the time of 
the breach is under 16.

7.10 The Council proposes to consult with the Chief Constable of Derbyshire 
Constabulary, the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner; and with 
community representatives and land owners/occupiers by issuing a press 
release, placing details of the consultation on the Council’s website, and 
promoting on social media. 

7.11 The Council will publish the text of the draft Order on its website. 

7.12 The Council will also notify each parish and town council within the Borough, 
and the County Council.

7.13 If the new Order is brought into force prior to 20th October 2020, then the 
existing Orders will be simultaneously discharged. A notice stating the date on 
which the Orders will cease to have effect will be published in accordance with 
regulations made by the Secretary of State.

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



1

PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER (Dog Fouling and Nuisance) 2020

The High Peak Borough Council (the Council) in exercise of the power under section 
59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (the Act), being 
satisfied that the conditions set out in section 59 of the Act have been met, makes 
the following order:

1. This Order comes into force on [INSERT DATE] and will last for a period of 
three years.

2. This Order applies to the land specified in the Schedule.

Purpose

3. This order is intended to help stop or reduce the detrimental effect on the 
quality of life of those in the locality caused by (i) failure to remove dog faeces 
from land and (ii) nuisance behaviour caused by dogs in public areas.

Prohibitions 

4. A person shall be in breach of this Order if:

4.1 A dog defecates at any time on land to which this Order applies and a person 
who is in charge of the dog at that time fails to remove the faeces from the land 
forthwith.

4.2 A person who is in charge of a dog at that time does not comply with a direction 
given him by an Authorised Officer of the Authority to put and keep the dog on 
a lead of not more than six feet in length.

4.3 An Authorised Officer of the Authority has reason to believe that a person has 
committed an offence under this Order and the person:

(a) fails to give his name and address when asked to do so, or

(b) gives a false or inaccurate name or address.

Offence of Failing to Comply with Order

5.1 Under section 67 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, it is 
an offence for a person without reasonable excuse to:
(a) do anything that the person is prohibited from doing by this Order, or

Page 43



2

(b) fail to comply with a requirement to which the person is subject under this 
Order.

5.2 A person does not commit an offence under this Order by failing to comply with 
a prohibition or requirement if:
(a) he is registered as a blind person in a register compiled under section 29 

of the National Assistance Act 1948;
(b) he has a disability which affects his mobility, manual dexterity, physical 

coordination or ability to lift, carry or otherwise move everyday objects, in 
respect of a dog trained by a prescribed charity and upon which he relies 
for assistance;

(c) the owner, occupier or other person or authority having control of the land 
has consented (generally or specifically) to his failing to do so; or

(d) the local authority did not have power to include the prohibition or 
requirement in this Order.

5.3 A person guilty of an offence of failing to comply with this Order is liable on 
summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.

Challenging the Validity of the Order

6. An Interested Person may apply to the High Court to question the validity of the 
Order on the grounds that the Council has no power to make the Order, include 
the particular prohibitions or requirements imposed by the Order, or that a 
requirement of the Act has not been complied with within six weeks beginning 
with the date on which the order is made.

Interpretation

7. For the purpose of this Order:
(a) a person who habitually has a dog in his possession shall be taken to be 

in charge of the dog at any time unless:
(i) at that time some other person is in charge of the dog; or
(ii) the person is under the age of 16, in which case the Parent of that 
person shall be treated as being in charge of the dog at the relevant time;

(b) placing the faeces in a receptacle on the land which is provided for the 
purpose, or for the disposal of waste, shall be a sufficient removal from 
the land;

(c) being unaware of the defecation (whether by reason of not being in the 
vicinity or otherwise), or not having a device for or other suitable means of 
removing the faeces shall not be a reasonable excuse for failing to 
remove the faeces;

(d) each of the following is a “prescribed charity”:-
(i) Dogs for the Disabled (registered charity number 700454);
(ii) Support Dogs (registered charity number 1088281);
(iii) Canine Partners for Independence (registered charity number 803680);

(e) an Authorised Officer of the Authority may only give a direction under this 
Order to put and keep a dog on a lead if such restraint is reasonably 
necessary to prevent a nuisance or behaviour by the dog is likely to cause 

Page 44



3

annoyance or disturbance to any other person or the worrying or 
disturbance of any animal or bird.

(f) an Authorised Officer of the Authority means an employee, partner agency 
or contractor of High Peak Borough Council who is authorised in writing by 
High Peak Borough Council for the purposes of administrating the 
requirements of this Order.

(g) Parent, in relation to a person under the age of 16, includes any person:
(i) who is not a parent of his but who has parental responsibility for him, or
(ii) who has care of him.

(h) Interested Person means an individual who lives in the restricted area or 
who regularly works in or visits that area.

IN WITNESS whereof the COMMON SEAL 
of the HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL was hereunto affixed this 
          day of          two thousand and twenty in
the presence of 

Solicitor

SCHEDULE

This Order applies to all land within the area of High Peak Borough Council that is 
open to the air and to which the public are entitled or permitted to have access (with 
or without payment) including access land as defined in section 1 of the Countryside 
and Rights of Way Act 2000. This includes, but is not limited to all footpaths, the 
footways and carriageways of every highway (including tree bases and grass 
verges) and every cemetery, park, public garden and open space including land 
owned by parish and town councils.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY 
Chairman: Councillor Quinn 

Vice Chairman: Councillor Sizeland 
Lead Officer: M Trillo 

Date Items Contact Officer Purpose/Method of 
Consideration 

5-Feb-2020 Work Programme   
Derbyshire Police Update    
Use of Inflatables on Council Owned Land N Kemp  
Dog Control Orders David Smith  
Report from Single Use Plastic Working Group N Kemp  
   

25-Mar-2020 Update Connex Community Support (formerly known as 
Buxton & Derbyshire Dales Volunteer Bureau) 

Gill Geddes   

High Peak Borough Council Sports and Physical Activity 
Strategy - Update  

Rob Wilks  

Arts Strategy Mark Forrester  
Syrian Resettlement  Michelle Costello  
Work Programme   
   

Jun-20 Appointment of Chairman and Vice-Chairman   
Update on Air Quality Management Alicia Patterson  
Work Programme   
   

July-20    
Work Programme   
   

Oct-20 AES Annual Performance Review AES  

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 9



COMMUNITY 
Update on HMOs Mike Towers  
Work Programme   
   

Nov-20    
Work Programme   
   

To add in Update from NWAS   
Update from Derbyshire Fire Service   
Update from Police & Crime Commissioner   
High Peak Place NHS Derby and Derbyshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group  

Amy Busby  

Environment Agency (flooding)   
   

 

P
age 48


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Recommendations from the Single Use Plastic Working Group
	Appendix 1 1. Single Use Plastics Full Council motion from the High Peak Labour group
	Appendix 2 - HPBC Single use plastics policy

	7 Use of Inflatables on Council Owned Land
	Appendix A

	8 Dog Control Orders
	Appendix A 1 for Dog Control Orders

	9 Select Committee Work Programme

